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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jayson Speakar, claimant, has filed a petition in arbitration and seeks workers’ compensation from Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., employer and American Home Assurance Corporation/AIG, insurance carrier, defendants.

This matter came on for hearing before Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Jon E. Heitland, on February 20, 2013 in Iowa Falls, Iowa.  The record in the case consists of claimant’s exhibits 1 through 26; defense exhibits A through O; as well as the testimony of the claimant, Judy Lien, Jennifer Lien, and Kelly Cooper.

ISSUES

The parties presented the following issues for determination:

1. Whether the claimant sustained an injury arising out of and in the course of employment on back March 17, 2010 or cumulative; shoulder March 1, 2011, April 30, 2011, or cumulative.
2. Whether the alleged injury is a cause of temporary disability.

3. Whether the alleged injury is a cause of permanent disability.

4. Whether the claimant is entitled to temporary total disability or healing period benefits during a period of recovery.

5. The extent of the claimant’s entitlement to permanent partial disability benefits.

6. The commencement date for any permanent partial disability benefits awarded.

7. The correct rate of compensation for the claimant.

8. Whether the claimant is entitled to payment of medical expenses pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.27.

9. Whether claimant is entitled to alternate medical care. 

10. Whether the claimant is entitled to penalty benefits. 

11. Medicaid and short-term disability liens. 

FINDINGS OF FACT

The undersigned having considered all of the testimony and evidence in the record finds:

Claimant, Jayson Speakar, testified he lives with his wife and son in Floyd, Iowa.  At the time of the injuries his son and daughter lived with him and his wife.  Claimant was 37 years old at the time of the hearing. 

Claimant’s medical history included an accident at age 11 when he was struck by a truck, suffering a fractured pelvis, a broken neck and a severe head injury.  He now has short-term memory problems, and cannot remember dates and times.  He was also sexually abused as a teenager at a hospital, for which he has received mental health counseling.  Those conditions are not part of this workers’ compensation claim.

He had a separate back claim at work in 2008, which is also not related to this claim.  In that incident, he slipped on a pallet.  He received x-rays and was provided medical care by Wal-Mart for back pain until released by his doctor.  From that incident to these alleged injuries, he has had no other back treatment, no work restrictions, and was able to work full duty.

Claimant also had a prior right shoulder injury when he fell off a roof or ladder.  He did not require any shoulder surgery, and did not have any lingering symptoms.

Claimant went to high school in Charles City and Mason City, but did not graduate.  He does not have a GED, but completed the eleventh grade.

He began working for Wal-Mart in 2007.  Before that, he worked in high school as a welder.  He has not worked elsewhere because he stayed home and took care of his children while his wife worked.  He was hired by Wal-Mart as an overnight grocery stocker, which he still does.  He is in a different position now than the date of injury, as he now works as a paper stocker.  At the time he was injured, he would regularly handle weights of 20 to 30 pounds.  Now he works with lighter weights, 5 to 10 pounds.  Before he was injured, he would stock heavy items like pop, water, bleach, laundry detergent, etc.  After his deposition, he was no longer asked to handle heavy items.

Since he was hired, he has worked 40 hours per week.  He likes his job and his co-workers, and most of his managers.  His reviews show he was a good employee.  (Exhibit 24)  He considers himself a fast worker, which is needed in his job.  He admits he has a quick temper.

Claimant was working at the Wal-Mart in Mason City on March 17, 2010, when he suffered an alleged traumatic injury.  He was helping a co-worker named Chris unload a pallet of paper.  The pallet weighed between 40 and 50 pounds.  Claimant was holding one end of the pallet and went to place it when Chris dropped his end, which wrenched claimant's back.  Claimant felt a pop in his back.  He walked away without saying anything, as that is the way he deals with pain.  He reported the injury the same day to the co-manager, Chuck, but no paperwork was done at that time.  Claimant was off work for a couple of nights after that, but the pain did not get better.  Claimant has viewed the video of the incident.  He agrees it shows what happened.  He feels that incident caused his back pain.

He was able to complete his work shift that night.  He eventually asked Wal-Mart for medical care, and was told their doctor was not available.  Claimant then went to see his own doctor, David Schrodt, M.D., in April, 2010.  He told the doctor about his work injury.  His doctor wanted him to have an MRI, but it was not approved by Wal-Mart because it was not recommended by their doctor.

Eventually claimant went to Wal-Mart's doctors.  He underwent physical therapy first, but it did not help.  He got an MRI and x-rays, which showed degenerative disc disease and a bulging disc.  Claimant was not aware he had a bulging disc before that.  Claimant was given work restrictions of not lifting over 10 pounds, or carrying over 20 pounds.  (Ex. 2, pp. 20-22)  Claimant later asked Wal-Mart's doctors not to impose work restrictions because he did not like doing nothing.

Garry Cole, D.O., saw claimant on April 16, 2010, and diagnosed a lumbosacral strain.  He kept claimant on light duty and recommended physical therapy.  He recommended claimant not do repeated bending activity at work.  (Ex. 2, pp. 25-27; Ex. 3, p. 2)  

Claimant returned to Dr. Schrodt and told him his back was getting worse.  Dr. Schrodt again recommended an MRI.  (Ex. 3, p. 3)  Claimant’s x-rays and MRI in May, 2010, showed a disc bulge at L4-L5, L5-S1, and L4-L5 bilateral hypertrophic facet arthropathy, as well as degenerative disc disease. 

In September, 2010, claimant continued to have back pain with radiation into both legs.  Claimant was examined by Scott Neff, D.O., at the request of Wal-Mart in October, 2010.  After seeing him, no further medical treatment for claimant's back was offered.  Dr. Neff thought claimant should see a pain specialist.  

Dr. Neff noted claimant’s degenerative disc disease and stated “This is a bilateral finding which could affect either leg.”  He also stated “ ….it is possible that the facet arthropathy and degenerative disk disease at these levels could have been made more symptomatic by this flexion strain.”  (Ex. 9, p. 2)

On October 15, 2010, claimant saw Jennifer Gibson, M.D.  Dr. Gibson recommended an epidural injection.  At that point, defendants stopped providing medical treatment to claimant, and he returned to Dr. Schrodt.  (Ex. 21)  The letter to claimant denying liability for the injury referred to a letter from Dr. Neff.  In that letter, dated February 24, 2011, Dr. Neff stated “the lifting circumstance may have resulted in a muscle strain but not in an aggravation, exacerbation, or worsening of a substantial history of preexistent arthritic disease.” (Ex. 21, p. 3)

Claimant is alleging a traumatic back injury or, in the alternative, a cumulative back injury. 

Claimant also suffered a shoulder injury.  He is alleging a cumulative injury there as well because he could not pinpoint a date of injury.  He estimates the date of injury as March 1, 2011.  He was on narcotic medication at the time.  At that time he was doing his normal job, moving pop and water as well as chemicals.  He was helping a co-worker when he felt a pain in his shoulder.

Claimant also alleges April 30, 2011, as a date of injury.  On that date, claimant was stocking when he again felt his arm burn.  The pain was similar to the March 1, 2011 pain.  He was not able to finish his shift.

Claimant had also reported shoulder pain to his managers on several occasions in early 2011, but none of them suggested he fill out workers’ compensation paperwork.

Claimant began seeing Dr. Schrodt in April 2011.  An MRI was done before his second injury.  Dr. Schrodt sent him to see Timothy Gibbons, M.D., on May 20, 2011.

Dr. Gibbons recommended surgery.  Claimant officially reported the shoulder injury on May 21, 2011, after talking to Dr. Gibbons.  He was hesitant to report the shoulder injury earlier because he feared he would lose his job.  His mother also recommended he not report a work injury.  She also works for Wal-Mart.  She was formerly an assistant manager.

When he reported his shoulder injury on May 21, 2011, he described it as a gradual injury.  The Wal-Mart injury paperwork made claimant feel like he had to identify a specific incident, so he used the April 30, 2011 incident when he was moving vinegar.

Claimant then suffered a back incident at Wal-Mart on January 12, 2012.  (Ex. 20, pp. 23-28)  Claimant then began receiving treatment from Sherman Jew, D.O., through Healthworks.  Dr. Jew felt claimant’s original back condition was not caused by work, but his work conditions could exacerbate his condition.  (Ex. 2, p. 56)  Wal-Mart denied liability for the January 12, 2012 incident on February 1, 2012.  (Ex. 2, p. 57)

Dr. Schrodt administered an epidural injection on May 30, 2012, at the L4-L5 level.  (Ex. 3, pp. 18-19)  When the injection did not help, claimant was eventually referred to David Beck, M.D., for a second opinion. 

In February, 2013, claimant had another injury at Wal-Mart.  He reported to Billy Jack, an assistant manager, that he had pulled his back and had pain in his lower back.  Later that day, claimant talked to Billy Jack, and pointed out he had just returned to work and asked why he was assigned to pull heavy meat pallets.  Billy Jack asked if he had any restrictions, and claimant told him no.  Claimant told Billy Jack he was sure if he had gotten work restrictions he would be fired, but Billy Jack denied this.

Claimant saw David Beck, M.D., for his back in August, 2012.  He received an epidural injection.  Dr. Beck did not have a surgical option for claimant.

Robin Sassman, M.D., also examined claimant.  She did not recommend any work restrictions because claimant told her he would lose his job if he had any. 

In 2012, claimant started treating with Erin Peterson, D.O., at a pain clinic.  Today claimant is on morphine, which seems to be helping.  He does not take any over-the-counter medications.  Claimant’s exhibits include billings for narcotic pain medications claimant says he needed to keep doing his job.  Claimant went through withdrawal of narcotic medications during the summer of 2012, and does not want to go through that again.

Today his pain is in his lower back, and into his buttocks and into his legs occasionally.  His back pain is constant.  He has pain when he starts his work shift, during his shift, and after his shift.  The pain is a lot worse after his work shift. 

He has no work restrictions.  Wal-Mart has not paid him any workers' compensation benefits for either his back or shoulder injuries.  He would like to continue working for Wal-Mart but is fearful for his job.  He has received disciplinary notices for missing too many days.  He states the coaching he underwent told him he would be fired if he received another work injury.

Claimant has hobbies such as playing video games.  He is not an active person.  He does not play sports.  He spends time with his family.  After his injuries, he can no longer do much around the house.  He is not able to play with his son, who is one and a half, as much as he would like to.  His son weighs 30 pounds, and claimant cannot pick him up without pain.

Exhibit L shows claimant told a mental health professional about a month before his 2010 back injury he was taking medication for joint pain.  Claimant has knee problems that still bother him.  He also blacks out when he gets very angry.

In 2001 claimant had a CT scan of his back.  In January, 2005, there is a medical record of claimant reporting back pain.  Claimant does not have a memory of these incidents.

On cross examination, claimant agreed he is on SSI medical benefits.  In 2008, he injured his back when he slipped and fell and landed on the ground.  He agreed he landed hard.  He denied attributing all of his back problems to that injury.  He has not filed a petition for the 2008 injury.

Claimant agreed the March 17, 2010 video of the back injury incident does not show the pallet being dropped from waist height.  He apologized for a memory lapse, and agreed it was maybe a foot off the ground instead.  His co-worker in that incident was named Chris.  He has reviewed Chris's written statements about the incident, and claimant disagrees with Chris's account.

Claimant does not know if Dr. Sassman was able to view a copy of the video of the incident.  He does not recall being asked if he wanted treatment after the pallet incident.  He reported the incident to the co-manager, Chuck, but he does not recall if Chuck offered medical treatment.  When claimant saw a doctor for this incident, he reported he experienced back pain right away.  He cannot recall if he ever said otherwise.

He did a lot of physical therapy.  He was unable to attend a couple of sessions.  He admitted there was probably a time when he refused to do physical therapy.  He has taken leave for his back pain under FMLA, and took leave for his depression as well.  He denied any doctor telling him at least some of his back pain is due to his depression, but he would not disagree if the medical records show that.  None of his doctors have recommended surgery for his back.

Claimant had an altercation involving his oldest son.  He agreed he had a sore back after that incident.  Claimant did not seek treatment for that incident, and stated he did not fall to the ground in that altercation.  He also agreed he fell off a roof when he was 25 years old.  He fell from a height of eight or nine feet.  He had x-rays of his right shoulder after that, which showed a bone spur.  He has been diagnosed with arthritis in both his back and his knee.  He has no formal work restrictions at this time.
For the April 30, 2011 claimed injury, claimant agreed he already knew he had a torn rotator cuff in his right shoulder.  On April 30, 2011, he felt pain from lifting a box of vinegar.  For the March 1, 2011 incident, he cannot remember a specific incident.  He feels the April 30, 2011 incident aggravated his shoulder injury.

When his personal doctor said he needed surgery, that is when he filled out the paperwork for an injury at  Wal-Mart.  Dr. Gibbons verbally told claimant his back condition was probably caused by his work activities, but did not write it down.

Dr. Gibbons performed the right rotator cuff surgery.  He told claimant he had a "dead bone" on the end of his shoulder blade.  He also told claimant that during the surgery he could see the rotator cuff was in fact intact, and he addressed the bone only.  

Claimant is on no medications for his shoulder at this time.  He is still working full time for Wal-Mart, working the same shift.  His pay has not been reduced.  He has received raises and bonuses in pay since his injuries.

On re-direct examination, he clarified his back was hurting before the incident with his son.  The aggravation from that incident returned to a baseline level afterward.  He does not feel any part of that incident contributes to his present back condition.

Judy Lien, claimant's mother, also testified.  She lives in Floyd, Iowa. She worked for 15 years at Wal-Mart, then left for a year, then returned.  She is currently an overnight stocker.  She was an assistant manager for 13 years.

She encouraged claimant to apply at Wal-Mart.  He worked in the food section, wherever he was needed.  She described the overnight stocker position as extremely physical, with constant movement over the eight-hour shift except for two breaks and an  hour lunch.

Everything at Wal-Mart is timed.  An employee is given so much time to complete a task, along with cleanup afterward.  A worker is assigned a zone and a task, and if the work is done early, the employee moves on to another task.  An employee is expected to keep moving to get their job done.  She described claimant as having a strong work ethic.  On a nightly basis, he challenges himself.  He wants to be done and to help in other areas.  He is dissatisfied if he cannot work at his full capacity.  He regards it as a challenge, and he gives it his all.  She shares lunch break in her car with claimant.

In her experience as an assistant manager, Wal-Mart approves medical treatment for very few workers' compensation injuries.  She feels it is better to get treatment on one’s own, rather than risk being fired.  She herself has had a work injury, and she also has seen it as a manager.  She told claimant he would risk losing his job if he reported a work injury.

Claimant had a brain injury as a child.  He has short-term memory problems.  It has affected every aspect of his life.  It delayed him developmentally.  He did not mature until later in life.  He has a severe quick temper.  It has gotten better with age.

Claimant likes his co-workers, and they like him.  Claimant likes his job.  He likes to feel he is successful at it.  In 2008, claimant slipped on some cardboard in the back of the store.  She is aware of that incident, and testified claimant returned to work with no restrictions.

On March 17, 2010, claimant alleges a back injury.  She and claimant both worked that night.  Claimant came to the car for the break, and claimant was moving slowly, and had trouble getting into the car.  He was upset over the injury.  He was afraid for his job, and she advised him not to report the injury.  Claimant worked the rest of the shift that night.

She also recalled claimant complaining his shoulder was hurting.  His back was his main concern, and she feels the shoulder pain was masked by all of the medication he was on.  She was worried about all the pills he was taking.

She stated he likes video games and movies.  He has no other hobbies.  She is not aware of any activities that might have caused a back or shoulder injury.

On cross examination, she agreed she has not discussed claimant's injuries with Wal-Mart management.  She has no knowledge how many claims Wal-Mart accepts or denies.  She herself has had several claims, and has had some denied.

Jennifer Lien, claimant's wife, testified she no longer works but used to.  She recalls Jayson calling her about his March 17, 2010 back injury.  She is not aware of any work restrictions for claimant.  She can tell by the way claimant walks when he is in pain.  For his shoulder injury, she recalls claimant mentioning shoulder pain.  She would observe him at home moving his shoulder in a backward stretch to relieve the pain.  She observed him taking pain pills for his back and his shoulder.

She was with claimant when Dr. Gibbons told claimant he had a torn rotator cuff, and Dr. Gibbons told claimant it could be due to his work.  She does not feel he has fully recovered from his back injury, and he has daily pain.  She feels he has made a good recovery on his right shoulder.

Before his back injuries, claimant helped around the house a lot.  He did housework.  But now, he cannot do yard work or the laundry anymore.  She has had to take over those activities.  His mood is "on and off," depending on how much pain he is in.  He is unable to ride in a car for very long at a time.  It is necessary to avoid bumpy roads or he will experience pain.  His hobbies consist of television and video games, as there is not much else he can do.  She is not aware of any activities that might have caused a back or shoulder injury.

She observed claimant go through withdrawal from his pain medication.  He is now only on morphine for his back pain.  His narcotic use has decreased substantially from what it was.  Claimant decided to move forward with his life.

Kelly Cooper works at the Mason City Wal-Mart as a shift manager.  She testified for defendants.  She has worked there ten years.  She was claimant's supervisor.  She recalled Jayson primarily worked in aisle four, which was coffee, ketchup, and tea, and which included vinegar.  Wal-Mart does have a chemical department on the grocery side.  It is possible claimant would work in the chemical area if he had completed his own work.  Claimant did not report a shoulder injury to her.  When an associate does report an injury, an incident form is filled out.

She confirmed claimant has received raises since his injuries.  He is still working full time, and his hours have not been reduced.  He is earning more now than when he was injured.  He has no work restrictions.  She denied Wal-Mart has a policy of denying every claim.

On cross examination, she agreed claimant primarily worked in chemicals or paper, and she did not dispute claimant's testimony he was working in the chemicals area.  She did receive an E-mail from another manager saying claimant reported a shoulder injury.  She discussed Wal-Mart employee coaching.  Claimant could only be terminated for absences if he did not fill out proper FMLA paperwork, or if he reported too many absences.  Exhibit 22, page 11, shows a coaching for claimant indicating the next level of action if his absences continued could include termination.  Seven absences in six months could result in termination, but workers’ compensation absences do not count toward that total.

On rebuttal, claimant stated he interpreted the coaching he received after his shoulder injury that "if I turned anything else in, I'd be fired."  In addition, after the hot sauce incident, he was called in to the loss prevention manager's office and was given hot packs and ice packs.  Claimant interpreted their conversation as the loss prevention manager discouraging him from reporting a work injury.

Chris Leopard, the co-worker who claimant alleges dropped his end of the pallet during his back injury incident, provided a statement disputing he had dropped the pallet..  (Ex. G, p. 3)  

Defendants’ Exhibit D is a video of the injury itself, from a camera mounted in claimant’s work area.  The injury is at 10:17:21 p.m. on the video.  It shows claimant and a co-worker lifting the top pallet off a stack of pallets, and the co-worker dropping his end of the pallet.  Claimant shows no sign of being in pain and walks away. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The first issue in this case is whether the claimant sustained injuries arising out of and in the course of employment.

The back injury claim will be addressed first.  In file 5039558, claimant asserts a traumatic low back injury on March 17, 2010, or, in the alternative, a cumulative injury manifesting on April 6, 2010, when he first received light duty restrictions. 

The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Quaker Oats Co. v. Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Electric v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.

A personal injury contemplated by the workers’ compensation law means an injury, the impairment of health or a disease resulting from an injury which comes about, not through the natural building up and tearing down of the human body, but because of trauma.  The injury must be something that acts extraneously to the natural processes of nature and thereby impairs the health, interrupts or otherwise destroys or damages a part or all of the body.  Although many injuries have a traumatic onset, there is no requirement for a special incident or an unusual occurrence.  Injuries which result from cumulative trauma are compensable.  Increased disability from a prior injury, even if brought about by further work, does not constitute a new injury, however.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).  An occupational disease covered by chapter 85A is specifically excluded from the definition of personal injury.  Iowa Code section 85.61(4) (b); Iowa Code section 85A.8; Iowa Code section 85A.14.

When the injury develops gradually over time, the cumulative injury rule applies.  The date of injury for cumulative injury purposes is the date on which the disability manifests.  Manifestation is best characterized as that date on which both the fact of injury and the causal relationship of the injury to the claimant’s employment would be plainly apparent to a reasonable person.  The date of manifestation inherently is a fact based determination.  The fact-finder is entitled to substantial latitude in making this determination and may consider a variety of factors, none of which is necessarily dispositive in establishing a manifestation date.  Among others, the factors may include missing work when the condition prevents performing the job, or receiving significant medical care for the condition.  For time limitation purposes, the discovery rule then becomes pertinent so the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the employee, as a reasonable person, knows or should know, that the cumulative injury condition is serious enough to have a permanent, adverse impact on his or her employment.  Herrera v. IBP, Inc., 633 N.W.2d 284 (Iowa 2001); Oscar Mayer Foods Corp. v. Tasler, 483 N.W.2d 824 (Iowa 1992); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).

Claimant relies on the opinion of Dr. Sassman, who concluded claimant suffered a work injury to his back on March 17, 2010, when he was helping to lift a pallet.  She concluded that incident caused the disc bulge at L4-L5, and aggravated claimant’s underlying degenerative disc disease.  She opined the March 17, 2010 injury substantially and materially aggravated claimant’s back condition, and that the medical care claimant received was causally related to that injury.  (Ex. 12, pp. 14, 26)  However, Dr. Sassman was not shown the video of the back incident. 

Dr. Jew, in examining claimant for his denied 2012 back injury, also felt claimant’s work “may have” and “could” have aggravated his underlying back condition.  However, that opinion does not meet the criteria of a medical causation opinion.  A possibility is insufficient; a probability is necessary.  Burt v. John Deere Waterloo Tractor Works, 247 Iowa 691, 73 N.W.2d 732 (1955). 

Claimant acknowledges in his deposition he blamed his 2008 back injury for his back problems, but at the hearing he stated that injury resolved, and he had no back treatment during 2009 or 2010 until his 2011 back injury. 

Defendants argue claimant’s back pain actually began with his 2008 back injury, when he slipped and fell on a piece of cardboard at work.  In his deposition, claimant attributed his back problems to that incident.  (Ex. A, p. 12; Deposition pp. 46-47)  Claimant did not file a petition for workers’ compensation benefits for that injury.  At hearing, he did not recall his deposition statement. 

Defendants also point out claimant’s version of the back injury incident, stating that his co-worker dropped his end of the pallet from waist height, is contradicted by the video of the incident.  The pallet was not at waist height.  It also shows claimant walking away from the incident without any apparent difficulty. 

Defendants also assert claimant gave contradictory statements as to when his back pain began.  He told James Conroy, M.D., it began immediately after the injury, but he told Gary Cole, D.O., it began a few days later.  (Ex. 2, p. 19; Ex. 2, p. 25)

Dr. Neff felt claimant’s back pain was caused by his degenerative disc disease and by his obesity.  He did not feel claimant’s arthritis of his back was aggravated by his work.  He reviewed the video of the incident and felt although it may have caused muscle soreness, it would not have aggravated claimant’s pre-existing degenerative condition.  However, he also stated “…it is possible that the facet arthropathy and degenerative disk disease at these levels could have been made more symptomatic by this flexion strain.”  It is noted Dr. Neff used the phraseology “could have,” indicating a possibility rather than a probability.  (Ex. 9, pp. 2, 4)  

Dr. Beck also felt claimant’s weight was responsible for his back pain.  He recommended core exercises and weight loss.  (Ex. 10, p. 1) 

Initially, it is noted that although claimant has pled a cumulative injury as an alternative, there is little or no evidence of a cumulative injury.  Although claimant’s work may have involved lifting on a regular basis, his work was not the repetitive series of micro-traumas that would result in a cumulative injury.  Claimant bears the burden of proof to show a cumulative injury, and he has offered no medical opinion that he has suffered a cumulative injury.  Instead, all doctors address claimant’s traumatic back incident of March 17, 2010, in their reports.  The March 17, 2010 incident is a clear traumatic event, and claimant’s testimony as well as his medical treatment was geared to the results of this event, not to repetitive ongoing activities.  If claimant has suffered a work injury to his back, it is a traumatic injury and not a cumulative injury.  

Clearly, a work incident occurred on March 17, 2010.  On that day, claimant and a co-worker were jointly lifting a pallet when claimant experienced intense pain in his  back.  Although claimant’s version of the event might not square exactly with the video or with his co-worker’s version, claimant has credibly testified he felt intense pain during the incident in his low back.  He reported a work injury promptly and underwent medical treatment.  

It is found claimant suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment on March 17, 2010, involving his back. 

The next issues are whether the alleged injury is a cause of temporary or permanent disability.

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

Again, claimant bears the burden of proof.  He asserts his current back condition is caused by, or materially aggravated by, his work injury of March 17, 2010. 

Claimant did have a 2008 back injury with the same employer.  However, he credibly testified his back pain resolved after that incident.  That is corroborated by the fact he did not undergo back pain treatment between that injury and the present injury.  He was able to perform his regular duties and continue working. 

Claimant clearly had a back condition prior to this injury.  The question is whether this injury has materially aggravated that condition.  Dr. Sassman says it has.  Dr. Neff says it has not.  Dr. Beck says it has not.

Adding weight to the conclusion of Dr. Sassman is the simple fact claimant after this injury needed medical treatment for back pain, something he did not need before the injury.  Although surgery was not required, claimant did have to undergo a great deal of treatment.  He continues to suffer back pain, which he rates at 4 on a scale of 1 to 10.  He needs pain medication.  His personal life is affected by his back pain.  Significantly, his back condition was for the most part asymptomatic until this work injury worsened it.  After this injury, claimant had to go on light duty work, had to undergo physical therapy, had to receive injections, and had to undergo medical treatment. 

Dr. Neff and Dr. Beck are probably correct that claimant’s obesity contributes to his back pain.  They are also probably correct much of his problem is due to a pre-existing, underlying degenerative and arthritic condition.  But for purposes of this decision, claimant is not required to show that the work injury was the sole cause of his current back condition, or even that it was the primary cause.  He is only required to show that it is a substantial cause.  It is concluded he has done so.  The traumatic work injury of March 17, 2010, is found to have materially aggravated claimant’s pre-existing back condition, worsening his pain and requiring him to undergo substantial medical treatment for that aggravation.  That aggravation has resulted in a permanent impairment of his back and permanent disability, as well as temporary disability.  It is found claimant has carried his burden of proof to show that his current back condition has been materially aggravated by the work injury of March 17, 2010, and his current back condition is causally related to that work injury. 

In file 5039559, claimant alleges a traumatic injury to his shoulder on March 1, 2011, and on April 30, 2011, or in the alternative, a cumulative injury.  Closely related to these issues are the issues of whether the alleged injuries are a cause of temporary or permanent disability. 

On March 1, 2011, claimant was at work helping a co-worker unload bottles of bleach and detergent when he felt a burning sensation in his right shoulder.  He did not immediately report this injury.  Claimant was seen by Dr. Schrodt, who ordered an MRI, which was performed on April 22, 2011, and which showed a partial-thickness tear of the supraspinatus tendon.  Dr. Schrodt ordered physical therapy, heat or ice, and Lortab for pain.  (Ex. 3, p. 32)

Claimant had a second shoulder incident on April 30, 2011.  While picking up a bottle of vinegar, he again felt a burning pain in the same spot.  He left work and again saw Dr. Schrodt, who referred him to Dr. Gibbons.  Dr. Gibbons reviewed the MRI and recommended an arthroscopy and subacromial decompression and distal clavicle resection.  (Ex. 6, pp. 1-2)

Claimant then reported a shoulder injury to his employer.  Claimant was sent to see Thomas Spragg, M.D., who noted claimant did not remember lifting a heavy object at work but had engaged in repeated activities at work that brought about the recurrence of pain.  (Ex. 2, pp. 58-59)

Claimant gave a recorded statement to the insurer regarding his shoulder injury.  He described already knowing from an MRI that he had two rotator cuff tears, and telling management at Wal-Mart that fact.  He stated he had been working with shoulder pain and had not reported a shoulder injury to his employer because he feared he would lose his job, especially after his back injury.  However, on April 30, 2011, the pain became so severe he had to leave work. 

Claimant underwent right shoulder arthroscopy surgery and rotator cuff repair with distal clavicle excision on June 6, 2011.  (Ex. 5, pp. 3-6)

Claimant underwent an independent medical examination for the employer on October 26, 2011, conducted by Gary Knudson, M.D.  Dr. Knudson noted the surgery showed an intact rotator cuff, intact biceps tendon, intact articular surface, and an intact labrum.  He stated:

With reasonable degree of medical probability I am unable to describe any structural damage that would have occurred from his work activities….There is no definitive specific work injury which caused a significant strain or significant exacerbation to state with reasonable medical probability that he had any structural damage from work related exposure.

(Ex. 8, p. 2)

Dr. Sassman concluded:

Yes, Mr. Speakar sustained two injuries to his right shoulder.  The first was on 3/01/2011 when he was assisting a coworker and stocking chemicals including bleach and detergent….An MRI was done and showed a rotator cuff tear on 4/22/2011.  

Mr. Speakar subsequently had a second injury on 4/30/2011.  He states that he was bending down to pick up a box of vinegar when he felt a burning pain in the same area of the right shoulder but more severe in nature.

. . . . 

Yes, it is my opinion that Mr. Speakar’s work at Wal-Mart caused his right shoulder symptoms.  This opinion is supported by the fact that he denies any right shoulder symptoms prior to this injury and there is no evidence in the currently available record that he sought care for right shoulder symptoms prior to this injury.  In addition, the mechanism of injury is consistent with his current complaints.

(Ex. 12, p. 16) 

Both the March 1, 2011 incident and the April 30, 2011 incident appear to have happened in an identical fashion:  While picking up an object at work, claimant felt a burning sensation in his shoulder, both times in the same location.  Neither object he was lifting at the time was particularly heavy.  Claimant initially stated he was lifting vinegar when he felt shoulder pain on April 30, 2011.  He later told Dr. Spragg he did not recall lifting anything heavy that day. 

Although claimant in his recorded statement said he knew he had two tears in his rotator cuff, an MRI done between the two alleged injuries did not definitively show a rotator cuff tear.  His later shoulder surgery did not mention a rotator cuff tear being repaired.  (Ex. 5, pp. 5-6)  Dr. Knudson implies claimant had an intact rotator cuff.  Dr. Sassman recites the MRI showing a rotator cuff tear. 

Claimant had a prior shoulder injury from falling off a roof years earlier.  X-rays at that time showed a bone spur, and claimant’s later surgery for his alleged injury included a distal clavicle resection, which involves a repair of the bone rather than the rotator cuff. 

The only medical opinion causally connecting claimant’s right shoulder condition with his work is that of Dr. Sassman, a one-time evaluator.  Dr. Knudson states claimant’s shoulder condition is not caused by his work.  However, Dr. Knudson appears to only address the question of a traumatic injury, and not a cumulative injury, as evidenced by his phraseology:  “There is no definitive specific work injury which caused a significant strain or significant exacerbation….”

Again, claimant pleads both a traumatic injury or, in the alternative, a cumulative injury.  Claimant again bears the burden of proof.  He has offered no evidence of a cumulative injury.  He appears to argue that his ongoing lifting activities at work have resulted in a torn rotator cuff, or at least a shoulder impingement.  But the only medical opinion he offers is that of Dr. Sassman, who clearly states claimant suffered two traumatic injuries, on the two dates alleged.  It is found claimant has failed to carry his burden of proof to show a cumulative injury. 

As for his two alleged traumatic injuries to his right shoulder, claimant again relies on the opinion of Dr. Sassman.  Dr. Sassman apparently feels the activities claimant was engaged in when he felt the burning pain in his shoulder were sufficient to have caused a traumatic injury, even though the weights involved were apparently not great.  Dr. Sassman relies on the fact claimant had no right shoulder pain or treatment before the first shoulder injury.  The fact claimant had no prior right shoulder problems before March 1, 2011, and after that date, had ongoing shoulder pain requiring medical treatment and surgery is compelling.  This contradicts defendants’ suggestion claimant’s current shoulder condition may be attributable to a bone spur from his fall from the roof years ago, especially considering claimant was asymptomatic prior to this injury. 

Such a temporal relationship between the onset of pain and the work incident, especially with claimant feeling immediate pain after lifting, leads to the conclusion that claimant has carried his burden of proof to show a traumatic work injury to his right shoulder arising out of and in the course of his employment on March 1, 2011.

The question then becomes whether claimant suffered a second right shoulder injury on April 30, 2011, when he again felt burning pain in the same area.  Dr. Sassman states this was a second injury.  An MRI was conducted in between the two shoulder injuries.  There is no subsequent testing to show whether the second injury made the condition worse.  There is no way to distinguish between any impairment caused by each injury.  It is more likely the second incident was a symptom of the earlier shoulder injury, not a separate injury causing new damage.  Claimant did not indicate the pain was worse the second time.  Claimant filed two petitions for benefits, one for his shoulder, one for his back.  He did not file a third petition for the second shoulder incident. 

It is found claimant suffered one shoulder injury, on March 1, 2011, which manifested in a repeated pain incident, but not a separate injury, on April 30, 2011. 

The opinion of Dr. Sassman will be given greater weight in regards to whether a causal connection exists between claimant’s current shoulder condition and his two right shoulder work injuries.  It is found that claimant’s current right shoulder condition is causally connected to his right shoulder injury on March 1, 2011. 

Having two work-related injuries---to the back on March 17, 2010, and to the right shoulder on March 1, 2011—it is now necessary to determine whether claimant is entitled to temporary total disability or healing period benefits during a period of recovery.

Section 85.34(1) provides that healing period benefits are payable to an injured worker who has suffered permanent partial disability until (1) the worker has returned to work; (2) the worker is medically capable of returning to substantially similar employment; or (3) the worker has achieved maximum medical recovery.  The healing period can be considered the period during which there is a reasonable expectation of improvement of the disabling condition.  See Armstrong Tire & Rubber Co. v. Kubli, 312N.W.2d 60 (Iowa App. 1981).  Healing period benefits can be interrupted or intermittent.  Teel v. McCord, 394 N.W.2d 405 (Iowa 1986).

On the hearing report, claimant seeks healing period benefits for his back injury from the date of injury, March 17, 2010, through the present, asserting he has not yet reached maximum medical improvement (MMI).  Claimant points out that Dr. Sassman did not feel claimant was yet at maximum medical improvement, as he has not yet received treatment recommended by her in the form of an opinion from another back surgeon, a third epidural injection, an assessment by the Spine Rehabilitation Program at the University of Iowa, and an evaluation by a physical medicine and rehabilitation physician.  (Ex. 12, pp. 14, 26-27)   

However, in his post-hearing brief he acknowledges Dr. Beck’s determination claimant is not a surgical candidate and his appointment at a pain clinic with Dr. Petersen on December 29, 2012, may constitute completion of the further treatment recommended by Dr. Sassman, and agrees an MMI date could be identified as December 19, 2012 if it is determined claimant is at MMI, a healing period of two and one half years. 

According to the hearing report, claimant seeks healing period benefits for the entire period of time between his work injury and attaining maximum medical improvement.  This overlooks two important facts:  Claimant was never taken off work by any of his doctors; and claimant continued to work during most of that time.  Claimant cannot be awarded healing period benefits for being off work due to his injury for days when he was actually working. 

Claimant took FMLA leave, which was apparently for both back pain and his chronic depression.  But this was claimant’s own idea; it was not ordered by any physician.  He occasionally takes days off allegedly due to his back pain, but again, none of these absences were ordered by a physician.  His willingness to work through his pain is commendable, but it still shows he was not off work in a healing period, but rather he was working. 

Healing period benefits are for injured workers who miss work due to their work-related injury while they are healing from their injury or being treated for their injury.  Claimant may still not have reached maximum medical improvement during this time, but he was not off work.  

In contrast to the hearing report, claimant’s Exhibit 24, labeled “Summary Healing Period Benefits,” shows a claim for healing period benefits for days he was actually off work.  For his back injury, claimant shows he missed sporadic and intermittent single or half days, with one period of three days and one of twelve days absent from work due to back pain, for a total of 28 days.  

For his right shoulder injury, under the hearing report claimant seeks healing period benefits from the date of injury, March 1, 2011, to the date Dr. Sassman found claimant to be at maximum medical improvement for his right shoulder condition one year after his surgery, or June 6, 2012.  (Ex. 12, p. 16)  This totals just under three months.  However, again, in Exhibit 24, claimant asserts actual days he was off work for his shoulder injury and surgery, for a total of 119 days, or 17 weeks.   

Defendants have not argued alternative dates either on the hearing report or in their post-hearing brief.  However, again, claimant worked during this time and cannot collect healing period benefits for weeks in which he worked and earned full wages.  The four weeks of absence from work he alleges were due to back pain are unrebutted in the record, and claimant will be awarded intermittent healing period benefits for those days.  In addition, he was clearly taken off work for a time to recover from his shoulder surgery.  The dates of absence from work in Exhibit 24 are basically unrebutted, and are accepted as reasonable healing periods for the two injuries. 

The next issue is the extent of the claimant’s entitlement to permanent partial disability benefits.

Since claimant has an impairment to the body as a whole, an industrial disability has been sustained.  Industrial disability was defined in Diederich v. Tri-City R. Co., 219 Iowa 587, 258 N.W. 899 (1935) as follows:  "It is therefore plain that the legislature intended the term 'disability' to mean 'industrial disability' or loss of earning capacity and not a mere 'functional disability' to be computed in the terms of percentages of the total physical and mental ability of a normal man."

Functional impairment is an element to be considered in determining industrial disability which is the reduction of earning capacity, but consideration must also be given to the injured employee's age, education, qualifications, experience, motivation, loss of earnings, severity and situs of the injury, work restrictions, inability to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted and the employer's offer of work or failure to so offer.  McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980); Olson v. Goodyear Service Stores, 255 Iowa 1112, 125 N.W.2d 251 (1963); Barton v. Nevada Poultry Co., 253 Iowa 285, 110 N.W.2d 660 (1961).

Compensation for permanent partial disability shall begin at the termination of the healing period.  Compensation shall be paid in relation to 500 weeks as the disability bears to the body as a whole.  Section 85.34.

Claimant is 37 years old, indicating he is in the prime of his working years.  He does not have a high school diploma, which puts him at a disadvantage when competing for jobs with other workers, as most of them will have at least a high school diploma.  He suffers from psychological problems including mood disorder.  This has resulted in a problem with his temper, which has not caused serious problems for him at work. 

As of the hearing, claimant had no formal work restrictions and was working fulltime at Wal-Mart doing his regular duties. He has received good work reviews and regular wage increases.  He earns more today than he did at the time of the injuries, and thus has not suffered a loss of earnings as a result of his injuries.

As for work restrictions, Dr. Sassman indicated claimant would normally have work restrictions, but claimant specifically requested not to have any, for fear of losing his job.  Dr. Sassman stated that if restrictions were to be assigned, he would give claimant restrictions of limiting lifting, pushing, pulling and carrying to 40 pounds rarely from floor to waist, 40 pounds occasionally from waist to shoulder and 40 pounds rarely over the shoulder.  He recommended claimant only occasionally stoop or kneel, and avoid the use of vibratory or power tools.  (Ex. 12, p. 15)

Dr. Sassman also assigned ratings of permanent partial impairment for claimant’s right shoulder condition of five percent of the upper extremity, or three percent of the whole person, using the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition.  For claimant’s back, Dr. Sassman issued a rating of impairment of seven percent of the body as a whole.  (Ex. 12, pp. 15-17)  None of claimant’s treating physicians issued a rating of impairment.   

Claimant’s home life is affected by his back and shoulder pain.  His hobbies are limited to playing video games and watching movies.  He did not have to undergo surgery for his back injury.  He did have surgery for his right shoulder injury. 

Claimant’s work history is basically limited to this job with Wal-Mart.  He likes his job and wants to stay there, to the point of asking not to be given work restrictions, as he feared that would result in loss of his job.  He works through his pain, and has good motivation.  On the other hand, his injuries have not resulted in serious impairment.  He acknowledges he has had a good result from his shoulder surgery.  His back continues to cause him pain, however.  Nevertheless, he has commendably continued to work at his job in spite of that pain.  

Based on these and all other appropriate factors of industrial disability, it is found that as a result of the work injury in file 5039558, claimant’ back injury, the claimant has an industrial disability of 35 percent. 

Based on these and all other appropriate factors of industrial disability, it is found that as a result of the work injury in file 5039559, claimant’s right shoulder injury, the claimant has an industrial disability of 5 percent. 

The next issue is the commencement date for any permanent partial disability benefits awarded.

For the shoulder injury, the parties appear to agree the commencement date is June 7, 2012.  For the back, claimant asserted he is still not at MMI, but the analysis above establishes he reached MMI on December 19, 2012.  The commencement date for permanent partial disability benefits for claimant’s back injury is found to be December 19, 2012. 

The next issue is the correct rate of compensation for the claimant.

Defendants’ calculation of claimant’s rate is contained in Exhibit C, page 1.  Defendants included every week because they feel none of the bi-weekly pay periods reflect claimant’s true earnings.  Defendants have averaged several weeks of earnings because claimant’s earnings varied widely.  They have averaged his earnings over seven bi-weekly pay periods to be $404.93.  Claimant was married with four exemptions, giving a rate of $291.00 for the March 17, 2010 back injury.  No rate calculation is contained in defendants’ Exhibit C for any other date of injury.  However, the hearing report indicates defendants assert rates of $291.00 per week for the back injury, and $328.24 for an April 30, 2011 shoulder injury.  Claimant indicates agreement with the $328.24 rate on the hearing report. 

Claimant’s rate calculation is contained in Exhibit 25.  Claimant has not addressed the disputed rate issue in his post-hearing brief.  In the hearing report, claimant asserts a rate of $346.78 for the back injury.  Defendants argue claimant’s calculation of rate artificially omits representative weeks and inflates his rate. 

Exhibit 25 shows claimant’s rate calculation for both pled back injury dates, March 17, 2010, and April 6, 2010.  As March 17, 2010 has been determined to be the proper date of injury, claimant’s calculation of that rate will be considered. 

Claimant bases his calculation on seven bi-weekly pay periods, which yield gross wages of $6369.19, which divided by 14 yields $454.94 per week gross weekly wages.  As claimant is married and had four exemptions, that yields a rate of $325.49. 

Claimant’s calculation for the other possible date of back injury yielded a rate of $326.86.  It is unknown where the asserted rate of $346.78 contained in the hearing report came from. 

The difference between claimant’s rate and defendants’ rate is easily explained.  Defendants have included every weekly pay period claimant worked up until his injury, and claimant has omitted two weeks as unrepresentative.  As claimant has not addressed this in his post-hearing brief, it is not clear why those weeks were omitted.  Neither would appear to contain a holiday, which might make that week unrepresentative.  The only apparent reason for omitting them is they are lower than other weeks.  But claimant’s work hours varied considerably from week to week, from 40 hours to 77 hours.  Just because the two weeks in question were on the low end of that spectrum does not make them unrepresentative, any more than the two highest weeks would be unrepresentative.  Omitting those weeks improperly skews claimant’s rate upward.

Defendants’ calculation of rate is found to be the correct rate for claimant’s back injury.  His rate for that injury is found to be $291.00 per week. 

As noted, the hearing report indicates both parties agree the rate for the shoulder injury is $328.24. 

The next issue is whether the claimant is entitled to payment of medical expenses, including medical mileage, pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.27.

Exhibits 14 and 15 set out claimant’s medical expenses.  Defendants are liable for the medical expenses claimant incurred as a result of his work injuries.  Third party providers such as Medicaid and a short-term disability benefits provider are also entitled to be reimbursed by defendants. 

The next issue is whether claimant is entitled to alternate medical care. 

Defendants shall provide treatment by Dr. Petersen in the form of pain medications. 

The next issue is whether the claimant is entitled to penalty benefits. 

If weekly compensation benefits are not fully paid when due, section 86.13 requires that additional benefits be awarded unless the employer shows reasonable cause or excuse for the delay or denial.  Robbennolt v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 555 N.W.2d 229 (Iowa 1996). 

Delay attributable to the time required to perform a reasonable investigation is not unreasonable.  Kiesecker v. Webster City Meats, Inc., 528 N.W.2d 109 (Iowa 1995).  

It also is not unreasonable to deny a claim when a good faith issue of law or fact makes the employer’s liability fairly debatable.  An issue of law is fairly debatable if viable arguments exist in favor of each party.  Covia v. Robinson, 507 N.W.2d 411 (Iowa 1993).  An issue of fact is fairly debatable if substantial evidence exists which would support a finding favorable to the employer.  Gilbert v. USF Holland, Inc., 637 N.W.2d 194 (Iowa 2001). 

An employer’s bare assertion that a claim is fairly debatable is insufficient to avoid imposition of a penalty.  The employer must assert facts upon which the commissioner could reasonably find that the claim was “fairly debatable.”  Meyers v. Holiday Express Corp., 557 N.W.2d 502 (Iowa 1996).  

The employer’s failure to communicate the reason for the delay or denial to the employee contemporaneously with the delay or denial is not an independent ground for imposition of a penalty, however.  Keystone Nursing Care Center v. Craddock, 705 N.W.2d 299 (Iowa 2005).

If the employer fails to show reasonable cause or excuse for the delay or denial, the commissioner shall impose a penalty in an amount up to 50 percent of the amount unreasonably delayed or denied.  Christensen v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 554 N.W.2d 254 (Iowa 1996).  The factors to be considered in determining the amount of the penalty include the length of the delay, the number of delays, the information available to the employer and the employer’s past record of penalties.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 238.

Defendants argue against penalty benefits by pointing to the conflicting medical reports of Dr. Sassman, Dr. Neff, and Dr. Knudson.  Indeed, there is great conflict among the medical reports, and defendants did have and express opinions, noted above, that indicated claimant’s conditions were not caused by a work injury.  Because of those opinions, liability in this case was fairly debatable.  In addition, claimant had prior injuries to both his back and his shoulder that may have caused his current conditions instead of his work injuries.  Again, these facts made liability for this injury fairly debatable.  Penalty benefits are not appropriate. 

ORDER

Therefore it is ordered:

In file 5039558, the low back injury of March 17, 2010, defendants shall pay unto the claimant healing period benefits equivalent to twenty-eight (28) days at the rate of two hundred ninety-one and 00/100 dollars ($291.00) per week. 
In file 5039559, the right arm injury of March 1, 2011, defendants shall pay unto the claimant healing period benefits equivalent to one hundred nineteen (119) days at the rate of three hundred twenty-eight and 24/100 dollars ($328.24) per week. 
In file 5039558, defendants shall pay unto the claimant one hundred seventy-five (175) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at the rate of two hundred ninety-one and 00/100 dollars ($291.00) per week from December 19, 2012. 

In file 5039559, defendants shall pay unto the claimant twenty-five (25) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at the rate of three hundred twenty-eight and 24/100 dollars ($328.24) per week from June 7, 2012. 

Defendants shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

Defendants shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30. 

Defendants shall be given credit for benefits previously paid. 

Defendants shall pay the claimant’s prior medical expenses submitted by claimant at the hearing. 

Defendants shall pay the future medical expenses of the claimant necessitated by the work injury.

Defendants shall file subsequent reports of injury as required by this agency pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1(2).  

Costs set out in Exhibit 16 are taxed to defendants.

Signed and filed this ____23rd_______ day of July, 2013.
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